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ROSLYN ARCHITECTURAL HISTORY

Roslyn is of architectural interest because of the very high survival rate of homes dating from
mid-19th century and earlier, as well as a significant group of architecturally consequentive
buildings dating from after the second half of the 19th century and a sprinkling of turn of the cen-
tury suburban homes. Apparently the earliest published record identifying locations and owners is
the Walling Map of 1852, which probably was surveyed a year or two earlier. A large percentage
of the houses and commercial buildings found on this map still stand.

Historic research concerning individual houses has been quite sketchy but quite a lot has been
learned about individual construction details. The thirty-eight buildings exhibited on Landmark
Society Tours since 1961 have been examined carefully and much useful architectural information
has been gained. Some of this study has been conducted under the direction of well-qualified his-
torical architects as Daniel M.C. Hopping and John Stevens. In addition, much can be conjec-
tured by evaluating architectural concepts, construction techniques, and decorative details of the
houses already studied and applying these criteria to examination of other houses. Careful historic
investigations of one house, as the study into the origins of the Van Nostrand-Starkins house by
Rosalie Fellowes Bailey, have revealed data concerning the histories of other houses. Careful re-
view of the early newspapers, i.e., The Roslyn Plain-Dealer, published 1851-52, and The Roslyn
Tablet, 1876-1877, have provided much detailed information concerning individual local buildings.
In oddition, a letter written to Mrs. Eliza Leggett in 1851 by Bishop Benjumin Treadwell Onderdonk,
describing his boyhood in Roslyn during the late 18th and early 19th-centuries, has been most useful
in identifying structures standing at that time. In a similar manner, a letter written by Francis
Skillman to The Roslyn News describes the history of many houses standing in Roslyn during the
period 1829-1879. In general, each building or house is exhibited for two consecutive years with
the result that half the buildings on each tour are being shown for the second time. One of the
benefits of this system is that data brought to light after the first showing may be included in the
description of the second showing.

Apart from the large "summer seats" in Roslyn Harbor, only a few of the early Roslyn houses
actually were designed by individual architects. Nevertheless, each house had an architectural
concept which determined its appearance and function. The concept was frequently strongly in=~
fluenced by the various published architectural works of the period, as Benjamin, Ranlett, Downing
and Vaux, and, in other cases, was simply the result of a discussion between the owner and the
carpenter. One early carpenter, Thomas Wood, is known. He probably was Roslyn's principal
carpenter between 1825-1875. An article in the Roslyn Naws for September 20, 1878, describing
life in Roslyn fifty years earlier, states "Probably no builder erected as many of the existing dwell-
ing houses, barns, etc., in this town as Mr. Wood." Thomas Wood is indicated on the Walling Map
as the then owner of the Wilson Williams House at 150 Main Street which he purchased in 1827,
according fo an inferview with his grandson Monroe Wood which appeared in the Brooklyn Daily
Eagle for Sunday, August 17, 1913. In all probability he built the later (1827) half of it, as well
as several other local houses which seem related to it. Later carpenters were John Wood, Thomas'
son, and Stephen Speedling. Both worked during the second half of the 19th century.

Architectural concepts of Roslyn houses were usually quite reactionary as-might be expected in
a small country village. In general the more ambitious the house at the time of building, the more
likely it was to have been built in a contemporary style. Less important houses, in which owners
were more likely to be interested in shelter than flourishes, frequently reflected the designs of an
earlier period. Even in the stylish houses, secondary rooms often appear retarded stylistically.

Construction techniques are another important device in the dating of homes. Workmen
trained in a country village were likely to use techniques of their apprenticeships. In sufficiently
isolated communities, a workman might continue in techniques of the early working years of the
elderly man whe taught him. Reactionary techniques in one trade may appear side by side with
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relatively modern techniques in others, depending on the training of the man who did the work.

In situations of this sort, the date of the house cannot be earlier than the introduction of the latest
construction technique used, provided it may be accepted the work is part of the original structure.
In general framing of Rosfyn homes conforms to contemporary standards. However, the plastering
techniques of clamshells and horsehair continued into late 1800's even though these techniques

had been discontinued in cities like Boston by 1750. Masonry, also, was likely to be reactionary.
The brickwork in at least one house built in the second quarter of the 19th century was laid in
Flemish bond, a style which had disappeared elsewhere at least a century earlier. It is worthy of
comment that prior to about 1860, foundations of Roslyn houses were built of large stones, arranged
in such a manner that the exposed inside surfaces of the cellar were smooth while the outer surfaces,
covered by earth below grade, were irregular and thereby bonded together by the earth back-fill.
After about 1835 the exposed parts of foundations, i.e., from grade to siil, were brick. From
about 1870, the entire foundation walls were brick. The latter practice continued until about
1900.

Decorative details, as hardware, stair railings, mouldings, etc., are also of great value in
establishing the age of a house. In Roslyn the concept and construction details, and even the hard-
ware, may antedate mouldings by many years. In such a case, the date of the house cannot be
earlier than the date of earliest appearance of the specific moulding style, provided the mouldings
may be accepted as original work and not later alteration. Wooden styles, probably because of
the presence of two lumber yards in the Village made it more convenient for carpenters to buy many
mouldings ready-made. William Hicks started his sawmill in Roslyn Harbor in 1832 and may have
operated another yard even-earlier. For the same reason mantles and doorframes were usually in
style and executed with contemporary detail. On the other hand, metal hardware frequently was
retarded in style, as result of availability of out-of-date stock or re-use of earlier materials.

"H" and "H-L" hinges and oval keyholes were used long after their use has been discontinued in
metropolitan centers. Prior to about 1825 locks were imported from England. After that date they
were of local manufacture, some by A. Searing of Jamaica. Willowmere, a mid-18th century
house, has locks installed circa 1830 made by Mackrell & Richardson of New York, and at least
two more survive in the Wilson Williams house and the John Mott house.

The foregoing is only the briefest of resumes. Additional information will be given, when
feasible, in descriptions of individual houses. In all cases, estimates of construction dates have
been evaluated on the basis of architectural characteristics as described above. In some instances
an individual house may have been built earlier than the attributed date, but alterations have
given it the characteristics of a later period.

As noted above, most of the early Roslyn buildings were designed by local carpenters who, in
some instances, worked from architectural pattern books. By the mid-1%th century, however, the
larger, more fashionable houses being built along the harbor must have been designed by architects,
even though in some instances the quality of the building provides the only evidence for an archit-
ectural attribution. The earliest building designed by a known firm of professional architects was
Christ Church Chapel (later the first Trinity Church, Roslyn) which was designed by McDonald &
Clinton in 1862. The earliest known example of the work by a prominent architect is Jacob Wrey
Mould's design for Thomas Clapham's "Stonehouse™, now “Wenlo", in 1868. A contemporary
newspaper clipping in the possession of the present owner identifies Mould as the architect. Plate
#61 of Bicknell's "Brick and Wood Architecture" (1875) illustrates a house very similar to "Stone-
house" in facade design and floor plan. Bicknell credits the design to J. Wrey Mould and iden--
tifies the owner as Thomas Clapham of Roslyn. Mould designed many churches in New York,
including the All Souls' Unitarian Church and Parsonage (1853-1855). In 1859 he became Assoc-
iate Architect of the New York City Department of Public Parks and, in 1870-1871, the Architect-
in-Chief. In these capacities he designed most of the buildings and other structures in Central
Park including the bandstand (1862}, the terrace (1858-1864) and the casino (1871). (See Van
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Zanten, David T.: "Jacob Wrey Mould: Echoes of Owen Jones and The High Victorian Styles in
New York, 1853-1865", Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians, Vol. XXVIII, f,
March, 1969, pages 41-57.)

In 1869 Calvert Vaux, one of the most prominent architects of his day and the author of a num-
ber of books on architectural subjects, did the design for the enlargement of "Clovercroft” (now
"Montrose") to the order of Mrs. Parke Godwin. The drawings and elevations for the Vaux design
survive and bear the imprint of Vaux, Withers & Co., 110 Broadway, New York. In 1874 Thomas
Wisedell, of New York, prepared drawings for the enlargement of "Cedar Mere" for William Cullen
Bryant. Other buildings in Roslyn Harbor which must represent the work of competent professional
architects are "Sycamore Lodge", "Locust Knoll”, now "Mayknoll" (1854-1855), the Gothic Mill
at "Cedar Mere" which, apparently, was not included in the Wisedell design and St. Mary's Church
(1871-1876). Samuel Adams Warner was a New York architect who lived in Roslyn during the third
quarter of the 19th century. A Swiss Cottage built on his estate circa 1875 survives on Railroad
Avenue and almost certainly must have been built to Warner's design. A letter from Warner's great-
grandson Captain Harry W. Baltazzi, USN, dated September 7, 1965 (Bryant Library), states "My
father told me that his grandfather, S.A. Warner, had given land to the Long Island Railroad with
the provision that the station was to be built upon it". The Railroad Station is very close to the
site of the former Warner house. Could the station also have been built to Warner's design? . Warner
may have designed some of the Roslyn Harbor houses for which architectural attributions have not
yet been made.

Actually the impact of William Cullen Bryant and his circle must be considered in developing
the architectural attributions of the great mid-19th century houses in Roslyn Harbor. Frederick Law
Olmstead, a close friend, is credited with the landscape design of "Cedar Mere" and later was the
landscape architect of Central Park, a project strongly supported by Bryant. Calvert Vaux
was closely associated with Olmstead and was officially charged, with him, with control of the de-
signs for Central Park. Vaux is known to have worked for Mrs. Parke Godwin, a Bryant daughter,
and probably designed other local buildings including possibly the Gothic Mill at "Cedar Mere".
These local connections of Olmstead and Vaux may also have been responsible for bringing Mould,
a Central Park associate, commissions in this area. It is certainly to be hoped that, ultimately,
the mystery surrounding the origins of this important group of buildings will be solved. Near the
turn of the century architectural attributions may be made with stronger authority. In 1893, or
shortly thereafter, Ogden Codman, Jr., designed a house for Lloyd Bryce which later was acquired
by the late Childs Frick, named "Clayton" and substantially altered. The design of the Ellen Ward
Memorial Clock Tower (1895) can definitely be credited to Lamb & Rich, 265 Broadway, New York.
Clarence Mackay's "Harbor Hill" was designed by McKim, Meade & White during 1902-1904, most
of the design having been executed by Stanford White. Most of the important buildings have been
demolished, but the delightful Stanford White gatehouse survives at the intersection of Harbor Hill
and Roslyn Road. The same firm of architects did the designs for Trinity Church Parish House (1905);
Trinity Church, Roslyn (1906} and one or two houses in Roslyn Estates.

In conclusion it should be mentioned that the buildings on exhibit have been selected to demon-
strate the continuing story of Roslyn architecture, and to indicate various interesting inconsistencies
of architectural concept, construction methods and decorative detail. Many more equally interest-
ing homes remain - it is hoped they will be exhibited on future tours. It should also be mentioned
that, in 1971, the Landmark Society received a grant from the.New York State Council on The Arts
to defray the publication costs for the 1971 Tour Guide. In the same year the Society was the re-
cipient of the National Award of Merit of the American Association for State and Local History for,
among other achievements, the accuracy of its research and the quality of its annual Tour Guides.
Similarly, the cost of the 1972 Tour Guide was subsidized in part by a grant from the New York
State Council on The Arts,
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WARREN S. WILKEY HOUSE
190 Main Street
Roslyn, New York
Property of Roslyn Preservation Corporation

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND: The exact date of the building of the Warren Wilkey house still
remains a mystery. A house on this site is shown as belonging to "W. Wilkie" on the Walling Map
(1859) and as having belonged to "W. S. Wilkey" on the Beers Comstock Map (1873). However,
they are not necessarily the same house. Francis Skillman, in his [etter.to the Roslyn News in 1895,
wrote, "The next place south of Wilson Williams (Thomas Wood/150 Main Street) was the Methodist
Church (Rectory/180 Main St.), past this the home of Anthony Wilkey, a great talker of politics
and only here and there with a grain of sense. His house was lately sold to Jonathan Conklin and
moved to the east side of the swamp, north of Mrs. Cordaman's. Then his son Warren built the new
large house on the land. The next house south was Joseph Starkins (221 Main St.), the blacksmith
at the fork in the road".

While Skillman's letter was not published until 1895 it apparently was written a good deal
earlier as it described no events later than 1879, In addition, when he does list specific dates,
they often are a decade or two after the fact. Anthony Wilkey's house, which was bought by
Jonathan Conklin and moved, still stands at #208 East Broadway and belongs to Mr. and Mrs. Robert
McCorkle. This house, shown as befonging to Jonathon Conklin, is indicated on the Beers.Comstock
Map (1873) so we may conclude that Warren Wilkey's house had been built by that date. The Wall-
ing Map (1859) shows a house standing on East Broadway at the same location as the Conklin house
but does not indicate its owner. Could it possibly have been the Anthony Wilkey house? Possibly
not, as the records of the Town of North Hempstead include three references to Anthony Wilkey in
the year 1860, establishing that he was alive in that year and probably living in his house at its
original Main Street location. Apparently Anthony Wilkey was alive as late as July 7, 1864, as on
that date he conveyed his Main Street property to Ann Eliza Wilkey, wife of Warren S. Wilkey
(Queens Co. Deeds, Liber 217, pg. 44). On this basis Anthony Wilkey owned the house for at
least several years after Walling credited its ownership to Warren Wilkey. The only other mention
of Anthony Wilkey in the Town records mentions his designation as "Overseer of Highways" at the
Annual Meeting of The Town of North Hempstead on April 6,7, 1830.

The list of marriages at St. George's Episcopal Church in Hempstead shows that Anthony Wilkie
(sic) and Sarah Stillwell, both of Hempstead Harbour, (the early name for Roslyn) were married on
August 18, 1804. In a list of the Residents of The Town of North Hempstead published in 1850,
Anthony Wilkey described his age as 68 and gave his occupation as "Gentleman" indicating that he
was able to live from his income. On the basis of the foregoing it seems likely that Anthony Wilkey
was born in 1782 or 1783 and died in 1864 or shortly thereafter. In fact the conveyance of the Main
Street property to Ann Eliza Wilkey, mentioned above, may have been a testamentary one; based
upon his will.

Warren 5. Wilkey was born in 1812-1813 and married Ann Eliza Thorp in New York City on
September 28, 1840. He apparently continued to live and work in New York as the New York City
Directory for 1852-53 describes his business address as 8 Ferry Street and his home at 92 Greene
Street. His addresses remained the same until 1862, when he moved his home to 1 Varick Place,
New York City. He continued to reside on Varick Place through the issue of 1867, From 1868 thru
1873 he is shown in the New York Directory, as being in the leather business in New York and re~
siding in Roslyn, although in other years he is variously listed as "agent", "collector”, and "lawyer".
The earliest Curtin's "Directory of Long Island", for 1867-68, shows "Wilkes (sic), Warren, agent
New York" as living in Roslyn and continued to show him in residence there until the last issue for
1878-1879. The foregoing probably establishes that the Anthony Wilkey house was moved and the
Warren Wilkey house built between the years 1864 and 1867. Warren Wilkey is listed again in the

~5-




New York City Directory for 1880, although no home address is given. By 1882 his home address
was listed as 302 Putnam Street, Brooklyn. In the 1887 Registry of Voters he is listed as having
been a resident of Kings County for seven years and as being 74 years of age. His address is given
as 190 Washington Ave., which was the residence of James Ryder. Apparently he was a boarder
in the Ryder home. He may have maintained residences in both New York, or Brooklyn, as well
as Roslyn, during this period. His date of death is not known.

A 20th Century deed to the Warren Wilkey property, long after it passed from Wilkey ownership,
refers to the conveyance of the property from Anthony Wilkey to Ann Eliza (Mrs. Warren S.)
Wilkey, as mentioned above, and establishes that she later gave or sold part of the holding to the
Methodist Episcopal Church immediately to the north. While his parents were married in the Epis-
copal faith, Warren and his wife apparently were Methodists and in 1869 Warren was a member of
the 5-man building committee charged with superintending the work of enlarging and renovating
the church building, which had been completed in 1824 and which up to that time (1869) had been
an "uncomfortable and uncouth affair”". The 1869 alteration made the church 48' long and 25'
wide.

Late in the 19th century the house was acquired by Henry M.W. Eastman (1854-1924) who
rented it to tenants. Apparently he tried to sell it as in the January 12, 1912 issue of The Roslyn
News, he advertised "the Wilkey house” for sale for $5200.00. Presumably there were no buyers
and on his death the property passed to his heirs. During the final years of his ownership and per-
haps for longer the house was rented to several lessees simultaneously. On December 15, 1925 the
house was sold by the heirs of Henry M. W. Eastman to Emil T. ond Nellie Rinas, who divided the
house into three apartments, depriving it of much of its architectural quality. Emil Rinas is better
known for having brought the first motion picture theater to Roslyn. Ultimately the house passed to
a son, Karl Rinas, who sold it to the Roslyn Preservation Corp., a non-profit corporation, late in
1970.

During the final years of Rinas ownership the house deteriorated badly. The tin gutter lining
rusted through producing extensive rot in the elaborate cornice and in some portions of the house
framing. One of the porch columns rotted out and the porch roof collapsed. A temporary column
and footing installed by the Landmark Society probably saved the porch for later restoration. The
quality of the tenants deteriorated to the point that the house was permitted to stand empty. Al-
most immediately extensive and uncontrollable vandalism began and, as the result, all the windows
and most of the sash were badly damaged. All of the shutters were damaged. Most of the door
panels were knocked out to gain access from room to room and, in some places, holes were made
in the walls to provide this access. The entire double stair rail leading from the third storey to the
belvedere was removed and several of the large belvedere cornice brackets were stolen. During
this period the house caught fire at least twice. The damage caused by an earlier fire to the south
facade was repaired.

Notwithstanding the extensive vandalism, the worst threat to the house was that of landslide.
During the building of the Chalet Apartments to the southwest, the foreman in charge of construc-
tion admitted to bulldozing large quantities of gravel over the hillside in the grading of the Chalet
parking area. This act placed a serious overburden on the steep hillside behind the house and de-
posited several feet of gravel against the west facade of the house penetrating its sheathing and
breaking studs in several places. The original back porch of the house was badly damaged and a
later south porch, circa 1925, completely demolished. Finally, firm action on the part of the
Incorporated Village of Roslyn, and the risk of Iitigation by Karl Rinas who was faced with the
prospect of losing a firm sale of the property unless the west boundary line was stabilized, con-
vinced the Chalet owners to agree to construct a rock retaining wall at the top of the hill, to con~
trol future gravel flow, and to remove the over-burden from the hillside below the wall. This work
started during the summer of 1970. During the construction of the retaining wall a large water main
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broke, washing even greater quantities of gravel agoinst the house. The cellar was completely
filled with gravel and the house inundated above the second storey window sills in some areas.
Notwithstanding the tremendous impact of this final landslide, the house remained basically sound.
The water main leak was repaired, the retaining wall was completed, the cellar was emptied of
gravel and the hillside was cleared and seeded. Grass started to grow and the sale of the property
by Kerl Rinas to the Rosiyn Preservation Corp. was consumated.

The first step in the restoration of the house was to assess the damage and deterioration which
the house had endured as result of alteration, neglect and vandalism. Actually the house had
suffered little damage from the landslides. It was the attitude of the Corporation that the house
should be restored as it was locally important architecturally and its restoration would contribute
significantly to the quality of the Main Street Historic District and to the stabilization and im-
provement of the south end of Main Street. Accordingly in January 1971, without heat and by
the light of a flashlight, as all the windows had been boarded against vandals, the architect for
the Corporation, Guy Ladd Frost, commenced a survey of the house to distinguish between the
original fabric and later insertions. The data gathered during this study later was incorporated
into a set of measured drawings one of which, of the principal (east) facade, has been reproduced
in this Tour Guide. As the result of these studies it was established that the house was basically
sound; that it could be restored; and that all the architectural components of the house were pres-
ent in sufficient quantity to permit the complete accurate restoration of every part of the house
except for the original front doorway. This had been removed when the house was divided into
apartments in 1925 and, while the dimensions of the opening remained, no clues, photographic or
otherwise, could be found which identified the precise configuration of the original principal
doorway. On the basis of the Frost drawings the Corporation decided to proceed with the
structural restoration of the house and with the complete and precise restoration of its exterior.

It also planned to restore the original floorplan of the house as well as those interior components
which might be difficult for the eventual purchaser to complete. These included the restoration

of the fire places, all of which had been altered; the mantles, two of which had been removed in
1925 and two of which had been later damaged by vandals; as well as the interior doors and sash
and shutters, all of which had been damaged by vandals. The major stair rail had been largely re-
moved during the apartment conversion of 1925 and the belvedere stair rail had been removed by
vandals. It was felt that these also should be restored. When this part of the restoration was com-
pleted the Corporation then planned to offer the house for sale for use as a private residence. The
Corporation recognized there was great risk of financial loss in the implementation of this project
but felt that the community benefits to be derived from the Wilkey house restoration justified this
risk. Adam V. Brandt, of Greenvale, was retained as contractor in charge of the restoration.

EXTERIOR: The Warren Wilkey house is rectangular in shape in the French Second Empire style
and commodious by local standards. It is of frame construction, five bays in width, and capped
by a slightly concave, slate shingled, mansard roof. The mansard includes three dormer windows
in ifs principal facade and rests upon an elaborately scrolled bracketted cornice which is the prin-
cipal architectural feature of the house. Each bracket is decorated with a pair of carved tablet flowers
in low relief and is terminated by a large turned drop. The entire roof-cornice complex closely
resembles that of the Hart M. Schiff house, built in New York by Detlef Wienau, in 1858. The
frieze between the paired brackets is decorated with ogee mouldings in the shape of elongated
flat-ovals. The roof is surmounted by a rectangular belvedere having a low hipped roof. The
latter rests upon a cornice which employs architectural elements matching those of the principal
cornice but utilizing slightly larger, single brackets so that those in the belvedere appear to be of
the same size as those in the principal cornice. There are four sash windows across the principal
{east) front of the belvedere which are separated and surmounted by flat panels. The entire bel-
vedere rests upon a base formed by a gigantic cyma-reversa moulding.

The house rests upon a massive foundation which is rubble construction to the grade and brick
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from the grade to the sills. The simple wooden water table utilizes a projecting square-edged cap.
The foundation construction seems a bit retarded for a house built between 1864 and 1867 as by
this time some local houses have entirely brick foundations. 1t is likely that the rubble foundation
of Anthony Wilkey's early 19th century house was enlarged to serve for the present house. The
foundation walls remain in near perfect condition despite the stresses o which the house has been
subjected. There is a full cellar, paved with large bluestone slabs, which retains the original
masonry components of its north and south cellar entries. There is an interesting coal chute in the
east cellar wall which also is lined with large bluestone slabs. The three principal chimneys, two
north, one south, are built of brick and include two flues each. They all rest upon the foundation
tops and upon brick arches which may be seen in the cellar. One of these, the northwest, survives
in its original form. The other two were infilled with brick about 1925 to provide furnace flues to
the cellar. All three chimneys originally were decorated with two rows of paired, round-arched
panels on their sides of maximum exposure. The east and west sides of the chimneys included
matching single-arch panels. The south and northwest chimneys both had been rebuilt, somewhat
shorter than they originally were, after 1925, In their rebuilding the arched panels were omitted.
The original northeast chimney survived in a crumbling state until 1971 when it was rebuilt to its
original panelled design utilizing its architectural remains and a 1925 photograph supplied by

Karl Rinas. Unfortunately the mason worked on an unannounced Saturday and completed the
chimney omitting the single short side panels before anyone was aware of his error. At the same
time the northwest chimney was extended to its original height to conform to the restored northeast
chimney. In addition to the three major chimneys there is a brick minor chimney, which rests
upon a brick pier in the cellar, which was designed to provide a single flue for the third floor
parlor stove. This chimney protrudes into the first and second storey hallways and against the
interior of the south wall of the belvedere. The short exterior portion of the minor chimney was
removed and roofed over, probably about 1925, and has not been replaced.

The house is sheathed with novelty siding, a type of clapboard bevelled along its upper edge
and rabbetted along its lower, which permits the carpenter to install it without measuring the ex-
posure of each clapboard. No one seems to know when novelty siding was first introduced and it
is generally regarded as a recent form. However, the Zanetta Hotel, in San Juan Bautista, was
sheathed with novelty siding in. 1858 according to the California State Park Commission. {f so,
this type of siding certainly would have been available in Roslyn by the time the Wilkey house
was built. Most of the Wilkey house windows are of the four-over-four type and are capped with
moulded drip-boards. The exceptions are the belvedere and dormer windows which are of the
two-over-two type and include slightly arched, upper sash. The dormer windows are capped by
matching shallow-arched moulded roofs and are flanked by sawn scrolled trim. Also exceptions
to the four-over-four windows glazing are the large ground floor windows of the east facade..
These four employ four-over-six glazing and extend all the way from the interior ceiling to the
floor. They appear to have been designed to permit the lower sash to be raised into pockets to
provide direct access from the interior to the porch. However, the pockets were not provided for
in the original construction. The two large windows south of the front doorway had been replaced
with smaller windows, probably in 1925, when the ceiling inside was dropped. The original forms
were replaced during the recent restoration. Because the rear of the house rests upon a high re-
taining wall at the foot of the steep hillside, the ground floor windows in the west facade are
much smaller than the others. There are only three of these as originally windows were not in-
stalled south of the central hall. The central window of the second storey of the east facade con-
sists of four-over-four paired sash to conform to the dimensions of the front doorway below. The
first and second storey windows originally were fitted with louvered shufters. Most of these have
survived although badly damaged by vandals. These have been restored so far as possible.

No trace of the original front doorway survived except for the opening in the framing and no
photograph of the original could be found. On this basis it was decided to design an appropriate
doorway which included side-lights and an over-door window to provide a maximum of light into
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the central hall, the west end of which had only minimum natural lighting because of the exterior
grade. It was decided to use a single door which included round-arched moulded upper panels
and rectangular lower panels as this arrangement matched the original round-arched chimney
panels. The Landmark Society owned such a door, from a Civil War period house in Cornwall-on-
Hudson, and made it available for this purpose. The basic design of the doorway was modelled

on that of a house of approximately the same date on West Street, in Glenwood Landing, and the
sidelights were carried all the way to the floor in the manner of those of the John Wood house,
circa 1855, at 140 Main Street. The moulding surrounding the doorway duplicates those of the
window drip boards and the capitals of the pilasters which flank the door were copied from the
porch column capitals. This doorway design was considered to be entirely appropriate to the for-
mal symetrical pattern of the house. The reconstructed doorway was completed just prior to
Christmas 1971. A few weeks later a snapshot was produced by Miss Dorothy Henry who had lived
in the house as a child prior to the Rinas alteration of 1925. This snapshot showed a doorway of
contemporary design which utilized paired doors having moulded arched panels above and rec-
tangular panels below. The lower panels each included a central carved wooden tablet flower in low
relief identica! to those decorating the principal ond belvedere brackets. Because of the greater
width of the combined paired doors there were no side-lights although there was an over-door
window. The original doorway also included a vigorous ogee moulding in the door surround.
While the restored door way admittedly differs from the original it is harmonious in design and,
because of its side-lights, admits far more light to the hall.  On this basis it will be retained.

The long porch which extends completely across the front of the house has a low hipped roof
supported by paired brackets which resemble those of the principal comice but are smaller. The
porch entablature rests upon columns which are rectangular in cross section. Each column is
composed of a slender tapering upper section which rests upon a plinth. Both columns and plinths
have chamfered corners and are terminated by moulded capitals. As mentioned earlier one of the
columns was missing and required replacement and there was considerable rot damage to the porch
cornice. All of this was corrected in 1971. The inner framing of the original porch roof has
always been exposed and was permitted to remain so. Two of the wooden lattice grills beneath
the porch floor survived and were reproduced to fill these openings. In 1971 the concrete steps
at the ends and center of the porch which had been installed in 1925 were removed and appropri-
ate wooden steps were constructed ot the porch center.

There are two additional accessory porches, on the ground floor of the north facade opening
to the kitchen and on the second floor of the west facade opening to u central-hall. Both utilize
simple shed roofs supported by two slender columns which are simplified versions of the principal
porch columns. Two of the original accessory porch columns survived. The two missing columns
were copied from them. The slender columns do not support brackets but the exposed ends of the
rafters are shaped and chamfered to provide an element of decoration.- Both porches were badly
damaged and required extensive rebuilding. Both porches retained the original doorways opening
to them. That opening to the north porch includes a glazed door which utilizes paired moulded
rectangular panels in its lower section. The west doorway utilizes a simple two-light over-door
window and the original four panel moulded door which had been badly damaged and has been

restored. A monumental concrete stairway, circa 1925, which led to the west porch was removed
early in 1972,

INTERIOR: The interior floor plan utilizes a center hall arrangement, typical of its period, on
the first two floors, and, in an unusual way, even on the third. On the ground floor which has a
ceiling height of almost 11 feet, this plan consists of a large drawing room which extends the en-
tire length of the house, to the south of the hall; the central hall which includes a single run
stairway along its north wall, and the dining room and kitchen. There is a small pantry built at
the expense of the kitchen but opening to the dining room. Its single exposed corner is rounded
to prevent bruising. The second storey, which has a ceiling height of almost 10 feet, utilizes
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much the same plan with two bedrooms having a range of closets between and connected by a short
hallwdy through them to the south of the central hall, and the master bedroom with its dressing
room, range of closets and bath to the north. The second storey hall is terminated at its east end
by a small morning room lighted by the double windows immediately over the principal doorway
and, at its opposite end, by the minor doorway which opens to the west porch. This door, and all
the interior doors of the lower twa floors, are of the four panel type and utilize rich protruding
ogee mouldings. Their door surrounds are similar but vary somewhat from room to room. Those of
the two principal bedrooms utilize complex protruding ogee mouldings as do the center hall, draw-
ing room and dining room. The doorways of the kitchen and secondary rooms of the second storey
are trimmed with simple cyma mouldings. The more important rooms of the first and second floors
are panelled beneath their windows. The prominent baseboards are stepped and are capped by
vigorous ogee mouldings. The dining room, drawing room, and ground floor hall all include gesso
cornices and probably had chandelier medallions as well. The drawing room, dining room, and two
principal east bedrooms all had fireplaces. Each had a simple marblelized slate chimney piece,
having ashaped mantel shelf, round arched opening, and central keystone boss. The dining room man-
tel was white marble. The drawing room chimney piece was slightly larger because of the size of the
room but otherwise similar to the others. Each opening was fitted with a moulded cast iron surround
suitable for a coal grate and designed to accommodate a pierced summer cover. The kitchen in-
cludes a stove embrasure capped by a massive granite lintil in the exposed brick chimney. In the
front of the chimney there is a large bluestone hearth upon which the stove originally stood. As
the result of rot the supports for this slab sagged and the slab split in fwo. For some redson or other
the stove embrasure has been bricked in although at this time it is impossible to determine why or
when this was done. ’

The principal stairway includes ogee moulded walnut grained panels between the lower two
storeys and most of the area behind this panelled wall originally was devoted to closet space. The
principal stair rail is walnut. The balusters employ top and bottom turnings and their unturned
shafts are octagonal in cross section. The railing itself is oval in cross section and lightly tri~
cusped along its upper surface. Originally the principal stair rail continued in an unbroken run
from the first to the third storey.

The third storey which has a ceiling height of almost 12 feet is dominated by a large central
area covered by a cove ceiling which follows the configuration of the hipped roof. This space is
roughly that of an "L" as it occupies the northwest corner as well as the central area. The prin-
cipal architectural feature of this space is the free-standing double-railed secondary stairway
which extends to the belvedere. This stair rail was retarded in style and consisted of a pair of
turned newel posts, similar to those in general use in Roslyn during the second quarter of the 19th
century, and urn-turned balusters of the type in favor during the same period. The moulded stair-
rail was almost flat on its upper surface. Most of this double stair-rail was destroyed by vandals
although enough remains. so that it can be precisely restored, hopefully with contemporary materials.
The other features of this large central area are four massive simply bracketed, but otherwise un-
decorated, piers which support the belvedere. Three of these are original. The northeast pier was
removed when this floor was converted to an apartment. It was replaced early in 1972,

In addition to the foregoing the free standing slightly angled brick chimney which was designed
to accommodate a small parlor stove to heat this space and the termination of the principal stair
rail which surrounds the stairwell also are contained in this room. The original purpose of this
large space is unknown, All its exterior walls converge slightly toward the ceiling to accommodate
to the shape of the mansard roof. There are several large wrought iron hooks let into the walls for
some unknown purpose. Those in the vertical walls could have been installed for the large mirrors
and portraits of the period. Obviously, the hooks in the sloping walls could not have been intended
for this purpose. There are three small bedrooms on the third floor, two to the south of the central
space and one in the northeast corner. All are entered through standard simple four-panelled ogee
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moulded doors of the period, all of which were badly damaged by vandals. Their surrounds all are
ogee moulded on their bedroom facings, but untrimmed on the facings opening to the central area.
The southeast bedroom utilizes a small Gothicized, wooden montle piece on its chimney. The
function of this mantle is decorative only and it never has surrounded a fireplace.

1925 ALTERATION: The house was divided into three apartments about 1925. These included two
two-storey apartments divided by a wall which extended down the center of the ground floor central
hall, concealing the stairway panelling and depriving the principal stairway of its railing from its
beginning to the start of its run from the second to the third storey. A collateral rightangle stair
way was built from the first to the second floor requiring the relocation of the east wall of the
southwest bedroom about two feet to the west and eliminating the closets of both south bedrooms.
The chimney pieces were removed from the drawing room and dining room. Their fire boxes were
enclosed and their flues utilized for furnaces in the cellar below. The mantle shelf of the drawing
room chimney piece was not discarded and was foundoutside the house in 1970, The major part of
the closet area beneath the principal stairway was converted to a cellar stairway. The drawing
room was divided into two rooms by a wall inserted just to the west of the chimney. The smaller
(west) room was converted to a kitchen with its own entry built into its south wall. The discarded
drawing room mantel shelf survived as a step to this small porch which was demolished by the land-
slide of 1970. The mantel shelf, however, survived the slide, as did the marble dining room mante| shelf.

The larger of the two rooms survived as a living room. Its ceiling was dropped several feet for
easier heating and its windows modified to accommodate to this change. The -original wallpaper:
of this room has survived above the hung ceiling. The double doorway opening from the drawing
room to the central hall was reduced in size to accommodate a smaller single door.

Both second storey chimney pieces survived the 1925 alteration, although both were later
damaged by vandals. The closets serving the master bedroom suite, north of the central hall, had
been demolished to provide a hallway for the north apartment.

The third apartment was converted at the expense of the entire third storey and the large cen-
tral space was divided into a number of smaller rooms. This apartment was entered through the
second storey west porch. It should be recalled that the second storey central hall had been walled
out of both lower apartments and remained to provide access to the final run of the principal stair-
way, the only portion to retain its original rail.,

EPILOGUE: The exterior restoration of the house during 1971 and early 1972 has been described
above. All the interior work which was added in 1925 with the exception of the interior cellar
stairway has been removed and the missing wall framing has been replaced to reestablish the
original room dimensions. Parts of the original drawing room and kitchen floors were badly worn
or were inadequately supported and these deficiencies have been corrected. The drawing room
hall doorway was reopened to its original size. Conforming slate mantles have been procured for
the drawing room and dining room and working fireplaces will be reestablished in the drawing room
and both principal bedrooms. Elements of both missing stair rails are being sought and it is antic-
ipated both of these can be restored utilizing period materials. Sufficient fragments of the ground
floor gesso cornices survive for their feasible reproduction.

At this time it is anticipated that the house will be marketed with appropriate covenants to
assure continued architectural control after the program outlined above has been completed, and
the exterior of the house painted. In addition, two small early 19th century cottages from East
Broadway , the Hegeman and Sexton houses, have been relocated at the extreme north and south
ends of the property and are being restored. In the latter project, a small concrete block garage,
circa 1925, on the south boundary of the site, is being retained.
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JAMES & WILLIAM SMITH HOUSE, 1835

East elevation after 1856 alterations
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THE JAMES & WILLIAM SMITH HOUSE
106 Main Street, Roslyn
(Under restoration by Dr. & Mrs. Roger Gerry)

Prior to 1835, Captain James W. Smith (1784-1879), "the fashionable tailor of the village and
town", and his wife Ann had been living in a "little old looking story and attic" house immediate-
ly south of the present 106 Main Street, which had not then been built, Smith had commanded the
Hempstead Harbor-Flower Hill Militia, and had served at Fort Greene in Brooklyn in 1814. Asa
tailor, he traveled with his apprentices to the houses and farms of his customers, making for them
the garments that were not fabricated by the family.

On the first of April, 1835, John Willis, the hereditary owner of most of the land on the west
side of Main Street, began to divide his property into building lots, one of which was that day
purchased by Captain Smith. (Queens County, Liber K.K. of Deeds, pg. 134). At the time of
purchase, the lot had a 67' frontage on the highway, and was over 200' deep. In addition, Smith
owned the land upon which his old house stood. The original Willis to Smith conveyance mentions
the existence of a barn, probably the center section of the present barn, at the top of the lane.

No house then stood on the conveyed parcel. Still extant beneath a concrete slab in the north yard,
is the important hillside spring known as the "Settling Spring (Great Spring)". Before the purchase
of the property by Smith, John Willis had already deeded the spring overflow to William Valentine
for the operation of his paper mill. The water flows under the road, emerging in the yard of the O.
W. Valentine house (105 Main Street) and feeds a brook running through the garden of that house.

On April 30, 1836, James and Ann Smith took out a mortgage to finance their newly built house,
and in January, 1837, they subdivided their landholdings, selling the old house together with a
small Main Street lot, to Daniel Hegeman, a tinsmith. (Queens County, Liber Q. Q. of Deeds,
pgs. 307-308); (Queens County, Liber C.C. of mortgages, pg. 390). The little house stood until
around 1910. Francis Skillman describes the Smith house as having been built in 1836, an estimate
which appears to be correct in this instance, although Skillman's attributions tend to be about one
decade late.

Still unable to meet his obligations, Captain Smith declared bankruptcy in November of 1840,
his land to be sold at public auction to satisfy his creditors. (Queens County, Liber 53 of Deeds,
pg. 385). The auction took place on February 8, 1841, and the property was purchased by Smith's
father-in-law, Jacob Dillingham, who had also been an apprentice of his. The Smiths continued
to live in the house during Dillingham's ownership. (Queens County, Liber 64 of Deeds, pg. 391).

On the third of February, 1845, Dillingham sold the property, which was, in the language of
the deed, then (still) occupied by James W. Smith as his residence, to Charles Boxter, a black~
smith. Baxter actually lived in the house, and assumed payment of Smith's mortgage to Dillingham,
which was still outstanding.

In March of 1856, the house was purchased by William H. Smith (probably unrelated to James
W. Smith), who made a number of immediate changes, and in whose family it remained for more
than a century. (Queens County, Liber 142 of Deeds, pg. 5). Like Baxter, Smith was a black~
smith, and he bought, with the house, Baxter's wheelwright blacksmith shop on the mill dam (Old
Northern Blvd.). William H. Smith died in the house in 1895.

On September 28, 1896, according to the terms of the will, the house came to public auction,
arranged by Henry W. Eastman, Esq., son of William H. Smith, also a blacksmith, who had been
living with his family in a house on Church Street, in the northern part of the Village. (Queens
County, Liber 1129 of Deeds, pg. 349). The house at 106 Main Street has, since the death of
William C. Smith in 1907, been owned by his wife Martha, and his daughter Jessie, the last of
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the Smith family to live in it. 1t is now being restored by Captain and Mrs. Roger Gerry, who ac-
quired it in 1971,

DESCRIPTION: The James and William Smith house is a side-hall, center chimney, two and o half
storey pitched-roof clapboarded house; three bays wide with its roof ridge parallel to Main Street,
The roof was originally shingled., The main block rests upon o rubble foundation which extends to
the sills. There is a rubble walled root cellar which is not contiguous with any of the foundation
walls. The chimney itself is based upon its own rubble foundation which is located between the
east wall of the root cellar and the east foundation wall of the house. An unusual wooden door
grill provides security to the root cellar inside its entry. ’

During several periods of ownership, an existing kitchen wing or ell was modified and rebuilt.
Beyond this, the house reveals only slight alteration, and until the present restoration (1972-73),
had no central heating and only a most rudimentary plumbing system which was contained within
the ground floor of the kitchen wing.

The house as built in 1836 had clipped eaves and probably a very simple wooden front stoop, no
trace of which survives today. Similarly there must have been a one storey kitchen wing, but no
trace of this has survived either. In all likelihood the early wing followed the periphery of the
present root cellar which extends well beneath the existing kitchen. After William H. Smith bought
the house in 1856, he made many changes still visible today. A beautifully wrought bootscraper,
attributed to William H. Smith by his granddaughter, Jessie Smith, but earlier in appearance, sur-
vives in use and attests to his skill as a blacksmith. Smith apparently extended the eaves of the
main block which he then bracketed. He replaced the panelled shutters of the second storey win-
dows with the movable louvered shutters which survive today. He added a large shed roof kitchen
wing to the west facade which gave the entire house a "salt box" profile. Substantial elements of
this wing survive. In addition, the first storey section of the original exterior west wall of the main
block was relocated several feet further to the west at the expense of the kitchen wing, to increase
the size of the back parlor. To "square off" the enlarged room, a small one-storey addition was
constructed at the northwest corner of the room where the original main block was wider than the
kitchen wing. A conforming six-over-six window, since removed, was inserted in the extended
north wall. The aforementioned interior alteration can be established as a part of William H.
Smith’s 1856 modification, as a mid-1%9th century horizontally sheathed dado survives under later
sheathing in the east wall of the present kitchen. In addition William Smith added a verandah
which extended across the east front of the house. This was covered by a shallow hipped roof, sup-
ported by graceful piers, the framing of which formed pierced Gothic-arched panels filled by lat-
tice. A photograph taken prior to 1870 shows the house in this form. A somewhat later photograph,
probably circa 1890, shows this Gothic verandah in precise detail. It is assumed that these altera-
tions were accomplished in 1856 or very shortly thereafter,

As mentioned ecrlier, the present central section of the barn seems to antedate the house. It is
considered that Captain James Smith, a tailor, would not have required a larger barn and that the
present east section was added either by William H. Smith, ca. 1856, or by Charles H. Baxter, also
a blacksmith, between 1845-1856. An example of Baxter's work, an elaborate wrought gate latch,
survives across the road at the entrance to the O.W. Valentine house (105 Main Street) and bears
his stamped mark.

Late in the 19th century or possibly early in the 20th, after William C. Smith bought the house
from his father's estate in 1896, the present two-storey gable-ended kitchen wing was constructed.
This included a chimney for a kitchen range near its southwest corner. This wing is not entirely a
new structure, but is really an enlargement and expansion of the mid-1%th century wing.

Simultaneously with the enlargement of the kitchen wing, the hipped roof, lattice-pierced
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verandah was replaced by o shed-roof, shingle-railed, glass-enclosed porch. At the same time,

some of the discarded latticed piers were utilized in the construction of a small shed-rocfed porch
off the west kitchen entrance. This porch was later enclosed with shingles to provide space for a
small utility room.

EXTERIOR: The exterior detail is Federal in character and simple in style, for the most part, and
includes a plain water table, delicately beaded edge corner boards and six-over~six windows. The
latter originally were flanked by two-panelled shutters utilizing fine Tuscan mouldings. On the
second storey, these were replaced by louvered shutters as previously mentioned. Most of the clap-
boards have survived. These have an exposure of seven inches on the east and approximately nine
inches on the other faces. Many clapboards are lightly chamfered along the lower edge and, pre-
sumably, are original to the house. The simple sawn curvilinear brackets with acorn drops were
added when the roof was extended circa 1856 and may be seen in the 1870 photograph.

The original entrance was approached directly from the street and it was not until the enclosed
porch was built that the steps were placed at the north end. The front doorway is strongly Federal
in style and is the most important survival of its type in Roslyn. It includes sidelights and a tran-
som window enclosed in delicately moulded major and minor surrounds marked by corner blocks at
their intersections. The major pilasters are more richly moulded than the minor. The reveal panel
mouldings match those of the major pilasters. The four-light transom window is untrimmed, but the
five-light sidelights have delicately shaped and moulded wooden muntins decorated with lead orn-
aments in the shape of acanthus leaves. The raised panels beneath the sidelights are framed with
conforming Federal-type mouldings. The door is composed of five horizontal raised panels surround-
ed by vigorous Tuscan mouldings on its exterior surface. It retains its original large labelled Car-
penter's box~lock and its original rectangular cast iron knocker. The artificial oak graining proba-
bly dates from the late 19th century. The entire doorway represents a definite retention of the
archaic Federal style at a time when pure Greek Revival mouldings were beginning to come into
use. Five-panel doors are unusual and appear in only two other local houses, the Samuel Ely house,
ca. 1835 (110 Main St.), almost immediately next door and the early (south} section of the Henry
W. Eastman house, ca. 1830, which is almost opposite at 75 Main Street. All three may have been
built by the same carpenter. All three are significantly more retarded stylistically than, for ex-
ample, the very Greek O. W. Valentine house, ca. 1835, which stands opposite at 105 Main
Street and was almost certainly built by Thomas Wood. :

The late 19th century two-storey gable-ended wing includes a substantial portion of the remaind-
er of the smaller mid-century shed roof wing. One of the corner boards of the latter survives in the
south facade.

The bracketed 3-sided bay window in the south facade dates from about 1880 and is panelled be-
neath single-glazed, double-hung windows.

BARN: The center section of the three part barn is the earliest and, as mentioned above, appears
to be earlier than the house. The second, or east section, probably dates from William H. Smith's
mid-19th century alteration. Both are similar in their clapboarded construction, although the roof
slope of the east section is eccentric and, as the result, the floor of its loft is higher than that of
the center section. The west wing is the newest and dates from about 1880 when the bay window
was built. It differs from the two earlier sections in that it is sheathed with vertical siding rather
than clapboards and is a full two storeys in height to accommodate a pigeon loft. Most of the early
ladder to this loft survives. Unlike the two earlier sections, the west section was built upon a
brick retaining wall on two sides.

INTERIOR: The graund floor of the main block is entirely Federal. The principal moulding
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is definitely Federal in character and similar examples have been found in the William M.Valentine
house, ca. 1800, the "Miller's House", ca. 1800, and in the early 19th century wing of the Van
Nostrand-Starkins house. The panelling under the stairs and all the door and window surrounds
utilize the same mouldings. The understair panelling differs from that in other local houses in be-
ing divided into two sections at chair-rail height. None of the windows are panelled beneath the
sills. Stepped baseboards appear in the stair hall and the front parlor. These utilize a larger ver-
sion of the Federal panel mouldings. All the original first storey doors include five horizontal
panels which are trimmed with the same Federal moulding described above. In the case of the
front door, the exterior face of which is trimmed with Tuscan mouldings as mentioned above, the
mouldings of the two surfaces appear to have been made a generation apart. This use of mouldings
suggests strongly that in small villages the characteristics of declining and arising styles were not al-
ways well understood. This observation will be confirmed many times in connection with the James
and William Smith house. The carpenter lock on the front door has been mentioned. Most of the
interior doors retain their box locks of American manufacture as well as their associated hardware.

The ground floor of the main block retains its ten inch pine flooring except in the back parlor.
The stepped baseboards in the stair hall and front parlor have been described. The stairrail is
cherry wood and the rail itself circulor in cross-section. The balusters are square in cross section
and are placed diagonally on the treads. The simple newel also is square in cross section but vase-
shaped virtically. The button in the newel-cap conceals the iron bolt which anchors the newel.
Interestingly there are no curved stairrail segments and all the bends in the rail are simple mitred
joints. There is no cornice in the hallway. The flat surround at the bottom of the stair fascia is
moulded in the manner of the door surrounds in place of the simple bead which usually is encoun-
tered. The fascia itself is panelled and moulded in the Federal manner already described. This
rich stairwell opening contrasts strongly with the primitive stairrail joinery.

The front parlor utilizes baseboards identical with those found in the hall and like it retains its
original flooring. The front parlor mantel is something of a mystery and may have been extensively
retrimmed. The Tuscan moulding around the opening appears to be the original as does the Federal
moulded horizontal panel above it. The modillions under the breast appear to be out of period as
do the strips of vertically placed reeds at each side. |t is anticipated that the character of this
mantel will be clarified when it is removed for the restoration of the chimney. The firebox is the
original and includes converging cheeks with a slightly concave forward slanting back, all covered
with a plaster wash. Two examples of early wallpaper survived in the chimney embrasure. The
earliest, ca. 1830, is original to the house and was covered by mid-19th century wallpaper which
presumably was installed by William H. Smith in 1856.

The rear parlor as already noted was originally several feet narrower in its east-west dimension.
The location of the original west exterior wall is indicated by the large beam which separates the
two ceiling levels, This exterior wall originally was replaced by a large 4" x 12" beam for which
the present somewhat smaller steel "1" beam was substituted during the current restoration (1972~
73). Until the recent restoration the entrance hall extended across the back parlor, probably to a
rear door originally. The bay window, then in the rear hall, provided additional space in a small
chamber. This wall was removed to permit levelling of the framing and has not been replaced. The
back parlor fireplace is Federal in style and original to its present location. It never surrounded a
fireplace but was intended to be used with a Franklin stove which utilized the front parler flue.
Originally there was no hearth and the stove stood upon bare flooring on a sheet of tin.

The back parlor baseboards are simple and capped only with a bead moulding. A simple chair
rail, with Federal mouldings, surrounds the room and forms all the windowsills. Originally there
was a six-over-six window in the northwest corner which was added when the back parlor was ex~
tended. This window was inserted in the south wall during the current restoration. All the back
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